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Parsons Memorial Lodge is a small building of approximately 1040 
square feet at the northern edge of Tuolumne Meadows in the high 
country of Yosemite National Park. Elevation at the Lodge is 
8640 feet above sea level. The area is closed by heavy snowfalls 
from approximately October until June except for access by skiers 
and snowshoers.

The Lodge is a simple, humble, yet massive structure. The 
building is symmetrical and rectangular in plan. The masterfully 
executed rubble stone masonry is laid in a reinforced concrete 
core. The pink feldspar and grey granite stones for the building 
were gathered onsite. The deeply raked mortar joints accentuate 
the stonework. Walls are battered and approximately three feet 
thick on the bottom and two feet thick at the top. The simple 
roman arch of the south-facing entrance frames a thick, arched 
wood door that has been covered with galvanized metal on the 
exterior. The interior of the arched door is of heavy planks 
tied with massive wrought-iron strap hinges. The voussoirs and 
keystone are dressed, as are lintel and jamb stones throughout 
the building. The low-pitched gable roof is finished with 
corrugated metal.

All of the windows are eight-light casements. Windows are 
shuttered during the off-season. Two windows (3.5'x5') flank the 
single entrance door at the south. The east and west walls each 
have two 4'x7' windows. On the interior the massive fireplace is 
centered on the north wall opposite the entrance door. The floor 
is scored concrete. The stone benches under the windows have 
thick wood planks for seats.

The roof structure is exposed on the interior. Peeled log 
rafters, sawn flat at the top edge, are strapped together at the 
ridge. The rafters average 1.5* in diameter. The rafters are 
supported by diagonal peeled log braces on the interior and 
exterior that rest on low stone buttresses on the east and west 
walls. Rafter tails (outlookers) project approximately 2' out 
from the metal roof. Smaller peeled logs from 6" to 9" in 
diameter lie side-by-side, perpendicular to the rafters 
completing the exposed interior roof structure. Above those are 
roofing paper and the galvanized metal exterior finish.

The stone for constructing the building was gathered nearby. 
Logs, hardware, and cement were packed in by mule. The 
galvanized iron for the roof was brought in by truck. The 
building was constructed during the summer of 1915. Construction 
began as soon as the trails were passable.
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Parsons Memorial Lodge is of national significance in 
architecture because it was designed with a thorough 
understanding of the harsh environmental conditions encountered 
at that altitude, yet with the highly expressive use of simple 
natural materials indicative of the Bay Area architectural 
tradition as seen in the work of Bernard Maybeck and others. The 
building is one of the earliest stone rustic buildings in a 
national park. Parsons Memorial Lodge is a straight-forward 
response to architectural materials and environment. In 
subsequent years, rustic buildings became the trademark of the 
National Park Service architecture. Parsons Memorial Lodge was a 
most important forerunner of that design ethic.

The battered walls and low roof of the building make it hug the 
ground, leading a prominent contemporary architect to comment 
that the building seemed "to grow out of the ground naturally and 
to belong there just as much as the neighboring trees and rocks. 
The simple materials were roughly shaped--the logs were peeled 
and some of the stone was dressed and molded into .a,masterful, 
highly expressive architectural form. The hand-crafted quality 
is reminiscent of a pioneer mode of construction. The studied 
care with which the stonework was executed, the decisive arch at 
the entrance, an4 the elegant _cijrve of the chimney .show the 
controlled genius of the designers. The building's low rise 
visually connects it to the low rise of the granite peaks in the 
immediate vicinity. The use of local stone as the predominant 
building.material blends the structure in so well with its 
surroundings that it is almost invisible from a distance. The 
use of onsite materials, "pioneer" building qualities, and 
harmony with the landscape were all foundations of the rustic 
design ethic seen in National Park Service architecture in the 
1920s and 1930s.

The Lodge is of regional significance in the history of 
conservation. Edward Taylor Parsons, for whom the Lodge was 
named, was a businessman from New York. His love for the western 
mountains led him to join the Sierra Club about 1900. He served 
on the outing committee, and later became club director. Like
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The building has undergone a few minor changes over the years, 
but none that mar its integrity. Ansel Adams, Sierra Club 
custodian of LeConte Lodge in the Valley during 1920, visited 
Parsons Memorial Lodge that summer. He noted that the doors and 
windows had been forced open and that "...the poles intended to 
support the roof against winter snows had been removed and cut 
up." Adams and F.C. Holman cut additional poles to fit and 
wedged them in. This temporary support system may have been 
unnecessary. No additional supports against winter snows have 
been used in recent history, and the original roof structure 
seems to be able to support the snow loads without problems.

A number of changes happened in 1935. The roof was repaired and 
roofing paper was laid under the galvanized roofing, which made 
the building much easier to heat. A concrete floor was poured at 
the same time. Presumably, the original floor had been dirt. New 
window frames and heavy shutters studded with nails were 
constructed to keep out marauding bears who frequently vandalized 
the building when it was not occupied. The cabinet and table 
which remain in the building were constructed at that time. The 
summer custodian at the time recommended that canvas sheets be 
hung from existing wires to partition off areas for the privacy 
of overnight visitors. It is not known if this was ever done. 
His other recommendation that heavy planks be cut to cover the 
stone seats under the windows "to improve comfort and 
appearance" was done. During recent years electricity was 
installed in the building. Track lighting and hanging exhibits 
(both removable) were added by the Yosemite Natural History 
Association. The electrical system on the exterior at the 
southwest corner of the building is an intrusion.

In 1973 the National Park Service acquired the building from the 
Sierra Club. It retains its use as a high country nature center. 
Overnight use is no longer allowed.
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John Muir, Parsons' death in 1914 was attributed to failing 
health that resulted from the devastating fight over the fate of 
the Hetch Hetchy Valley. The club set up a memorial fund to 
construct a simple one-room building with a large fireplace that 
would serve as a permanent club headquarters and meeting place. 
The building was also intended to serve a a reading room and 
library. The club chose the location so it could maintain better 
control over Soda Springs, a small mineral spring nearby, and 
because the area was an excellent starting point for access into 
the high country.

The matter of who designed the building remains somewhat unclear. 
Maybeck scholars Gary Brechin and Dr. Kenneth Cardwell attribute 
the design to Bernard Maybeck, in collaboration with his 
brother-in-law Mark White and construction engineer Walter Huber. 
The Sierra Club Bulletin announcing the opening of the Lodge 
stated that Mark White was the designer and Walter Huber the 
construction engineer. Mark White was an active member of the 
Sierra Club and would have been known by the article's author. 
No mention is made of Maybeck. The following is a short summary 
of other available information.

Bernard Maybeck (1862-1957) was an American architect of 
international stature. His better-known designs include the 
Palace of Fine Arts for the Panama Pacific International 
Exposition in San Francisco and the First Church of Christ 
Scientist in Berkeley. He also designed numerous residences in 
the Berkeley hills and in San Francisco, and became renowned for 
his use of natural materials, exposed interior structure, and 
haviag a building "fit into the landscape as if it were a part of 
it." He felt that design of a building was "in large measure 
determined by the materials of which the structure was to be 
built."^ If stone were to be used, then the building should look 
like a stone building. Whatever materials were of structural 
importance were to be emphasized as ornamental features. All of 
this design theory is evident in Parsons Memorial Lodge. The 
Lodge is closely related in design to a group of buildings 
Maybeck designed at Lake Tahoe, also with battered stone walls 
and corrugated metal roofs to shed the high Sierra snows. 
Maybeck was awarded the Gold Medal of the American Institute of 
Architects in 1951.

Mark White joined with Maybeck to form the architectural firm of 
Maybeck and White in 1902. The firm existed until 1938. Mark 
White was Maybeck's assistant and full partner. In 1907, Mark 
White's brother John (designer of LeConte Memorial Lodge in 
Yosemite Valley) and George Howard also joined the firm, but only
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for 15 months. Maybeck did the initial design work, and trained 
Mark and John White to develop preliminary sketches into 
integrated designs. Mark White was the architect of the Hillside 
Club in Berkeley (1924/t which was the meeting place for a group 
of aesthetes concerned with literary, artistic and social 
pursuits with a tendancy toward a William Morris arts-and-crafts 
tradition. Members of the Hillside Club included architects 
Bernard Maybeck, John Galen Howard, and Ernest Coxhead. John Muir 
was a frequent visitor in the earlier days of the Club.

Scholar Gary Brechin who reviewed Maybeck's office files for 
drawings of Parsons Memorial Lodge found several unsigned and 
undated ones, all of which he attributes to Maybeck.* A small 
sign hanging in Parsons Lodge, not dated, signed or documented, 
was installed by the Sierra Club and states that the building was 
designed out of a collaboration among Bernard Maybeck, Mark White 
and Walter Huber. The documentation of Maybeck's involvement is 
inconclusive; but whether or not Bernard Maybeck was directly 
involved in the design of the building, Parsons Memorial Lodge 
remains a work of genius for its simple design and environmental 
harmony.
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